No. 47462-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

ANGEL GARCIA-TITLA, individually, and LETICIA SARMIENTO  
FLORES, individually and the marital community composed thereof  
Appellants,

v.

SFC HOMES, LLC, a Washington Corporation

Respondent.

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

BETSY RODRIGUEZ, P.S.

Betsy Rodriguez  
Attorney for Appellant  
PO BOX 11245  
Tacoma WA 98411  
(253) 566-0127

**

## INTRODUCTION

This appeal asks whether an injured worker (Garcia-Titla) for a subcontractor (FRDS) may sue the general contractor (SFC Homes) who, according to all public records, owned, developed, and constructed a new home, paid subcontractors to do the work, and yet failed to enforce safety regulations. When Garcia-Titla fell and was injured due to the absence of proper safety equipment, SFC Homes claimed that a different company was responsible for safety. But SFC Homes owed a duty of care to all subcontractors working upon its jobsite, so the injured worker properly sued SFC Homes.

This duty is commonly called the *Stute* duty of care, and is non-delegable. Under *Stute*, SFC Homes could not delegate this duty to a different company. Yet the trial court dismissed on summary judgement, ruling that Garcia-Titla had not proven that the SFC Homes was the general contractor at the jobsite of injury, despite public records proving otherwise.

Public records are the acceptable method of identifying general contractors and owner/developers of new construction sites. This Court should reverse and remand for trial.

## **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The trial court erred as a matter of law in granting SFC Homes' Summary Judgement Motion because the general contractor/owner/developer at the job site owes all workers upon its jobsite a duty of care. CP 483.
2. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment because public records proving that SFC Homes was the general contractor and owner/developer at this job site were sufficient to raise a genuine issue of material fact precluding summary judgment. CP 125, 128, 130, 132, 133, 135, 136, 138, 144, 483.
3. The trial court erred in denying Garcia-Titla's Motion for Reconsideration based on the record presented on summary judgement, when the public records showed the defendant was the general contractor and owner/developer of the construction site, who owed a duty of care to the injured worker. CP 125, 128, 130, 132, 133, 135, 136, 138, 144,197, 198 -203, 485.

## **ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in determining that SFC Homes was not the general contractor and owner/developer of this job site?
2. Did the trial court err in ruling that the public records reflecting that SFC Homes was the general contractor and owner/developer at this job site were not sufficient to raise a genuine issue of material fact precluding summary judgement?
3. Did the trial court err in failing to reconsider its ruling, when there is no legal or contractual basis to sue a different party and the correct defendant has already been named?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. Angel Garcia-Titla was injured in a fall while working at an SFC Homes construction site where no one provided proper or effective fall-prevention or protective equipment.**

Angel Garcia Titla was working on a construction site owned and developed by SFC Homes. CP 125. Garcia-Titla was working as a framer for the framing subcontractor, FRDS. CP 55, 58. SFC Homes hired FRDS to frame one of several homes at a Gig Harbor site that SFC Homes owned and developed. CP 57, 58. As Garcia-Titla stood on a wooden piece of lumber that was eventually to become the second-story floor of the house, the lumber (or joist) broke, causing him to fall to the ground with the lumber tumbling down after him. CP 61-64. Garcia-Titla suffered painful injuries when his body hit the ground and the joist hit his head. CP 62-63.

Neither FRDS nor SFC Homes had provided adequate safety equipment on the site, but instead provided a harness and lanyard in a situation where workers had no place to tie off. CP 77, 78, 81-83. Garcia-Titla brought a personal injury *Stute* claim against SFC Homes. CP 38-40.

**B. SFC Homes brought a motion for summary judgment, claiming that it was the owner/developer who contracted directly with independent contractors, not a general contractor, and owed no duty of care to Garcia-Titla.**

Before trial, SFC Homes brought a motion for summary judgement claiming that it was not the general contractor of the job site (CP 10, 17); it was not the owner/developer in control of the job site (CP 10); and it contracted directly with framing contractors who supervised themselves (CP 10, 105-107). SFC Homes claimed that an owner who is not a general contractor, and who chooses not to retain control of his site, does not owe the *Stute* duty of care as that relates to safety. CP 17-19. SFC Homes plead that its owner Mr. Atsushi Iwasaki allowed the framing contractor FRDS, to supervise itself because it was an independent contractor. CP 20.

Counsel for SFC Homes stated “as an independent contractor, FRDS was free to do the work in its own way.” CP 20. And “SFC Homes did not retain the right to interfere with the



manner in which FRDS completed its work, nor did SFC Homes affirmatively assume responsibility for worker safety.” CP 20. SFC Homes argued that Garcia-Titla had not proven that SFC Homes was the general contractor of the jobsite. CP 21. SFC Homes argued that as an owner who chose not to retain control of his jobsite, SFC Homes could not be sued under a *Stute* theory of liability. CP 20.

**C. Public records showed that SFC Homes was the general contractor and the owner/developer of the job site, but the trial court did not agree that public records were enough to identify the defendant and granted summary judgment.**

Garcia-Titla provided evidence to show that according to city and county records, the owner of the construction site was SFC Homes. CP 125. The general contractor was SFC Homes. CP 198. SFC Homes took out the building permit to build at the site. CP 198, 200, 202. SFC Homes signed the City of Gig Harbor’s permit application documents. CP 427, 428, 432. SFC Homes is a licensed general contractor by trade. CP 130, 132, 138, 436. SFC Homes has a website where it advertises that its company is in the “housing business” (CP 144) as a builder of homes for “construction” of “detached houses.” CP 144. There was no other

entity identified in any public record as being either the owner or the general contractor for this construction site.

To this evidence, SFC Homes replied that although it was in fact a general contractor by trade and did have a general contractor's license, it was not at that site at that time, the general contractor of that project. CP 146. Garcia-Titla had no further opportunity to reply. The trial court found that Garcia-Titla had not proven that SFC Homes was the general contractor at the site of Garcia-Titla's injury, nor that he was the owner/developer who held the *Stute* duty of care. The trial court granted SFC Homes' summary judgement motion. CP 483-484.

Garcia-Titla brought a motion for reconsideration providing the court additional public records further showing that SFC Homes was both the general contractor and the owner of the site where he suffered injury. CP 174. The additional documents provided by Garcia-Titla included a certified, stamped copy of the building permit from the City of Gig Harbor listing SFC Homes as the general contractor for the parcel in question; a plumbing permit showing SFC Homes as the general contractor for the parcel in question; and a permit application signed by SFC Homes listing itself as the general contractor for the parcel in question and listing

itself as both the owner and the general contractor for that parcel. CP 197-203, 427. The trial court denied reconsideration. CP 485. The trial court found that Garcia-Titla had produced no evidence to prove that SFC Homes was the general contractor or the owner/developer. CP 485.

## ARGUMENT

### A. The standard of review is *de novo*

Review of the granting of summary judgment is *de novo*. *Washington Imaging Services LLC., v. Washington State Department of Revenue*, 171 Wn.2d 548, 252 P.3d 885 (2011). Summary judgment procedure is a liberal measure, designed for arriving at the truth. *Keck v. Collins*, 181 Wn. App. 67, 325 P.3d 306 (2014) citing *Whitaker v. Coleman*, 115 F.2d 305 (1940). Its purpose is not to cut litigants off from their right of trial by jury if they really have evidence which they will offer on a trial. (*Id.*) It is to carefully test this out, in advance of trial by inquiring and determining whether such evidence exists. (*Id.*) The object and function of summary judgment procedure is to avoid a useless trial. *Babcock v. State*, 116 Wn. 2d 596, 809 P.2d 143 (1991). A trial is not useless, but is absolutely necessary where there is a genuine issue as to any material fact. (*Id.*) Summary judgment exists to

examine the sufficiency of legal claims and narrow issues, not as an unfair substitute for trial. (*Id.*) There are genuine issues of material fact in this case, that need to be presented to the trier of fact.

**B. A proper interpretation of *Stute v PBMC* and its progeny proves that SFC Homes is the correct contractor/developer to sue.**

The Supreme Court of Washington held that workers upon construction jobsites are owed a duty of care to comply with safety regulations by the general contractor and the owner/developer of the jobsite. (*See Stute v. PBMC*, 114 Wn.2d 454, 788 P.2d 545 (Wash. 1990). This duty of care is non-delegable. (*Id.*) This duty of care stems from the “innate supervisory authority” had by general contractors and owner/developers. (*Id.*) *Stute* is a case where the employee of a subcontractor at a construction site fell off a roof. The worker was not wearing fall protection. It was a Saturday, very few workers were working that day, and there was limited oversight of safety at the construction site. (*See Stute v. PBMC*). The worker lost his grip on the roof, and because he did not have a harness and lanyard on, there was nothing to arrest his fall, or restrain him

from falling in the first place. This lack of safety equipment violated WAC 296-155.

The worker fell to the ground, suffered injury, and a negligence lawsuit against the general contractor and owner/developer of the jobsite followed. (*See Stute v. PBMC*). Thereafter *Stute* required owner/developers of construction sites to have an entity acting in the capacity of general contractor upon a jobsite where two or more subcontractors are hired to work. (*Id*). If you are an owner, and you do not place a general contractor upon a jobsite to supervise the daily safety operations, you will be considered an owner who retained control of the jobsite and the *Stute* responsibilities will pass to you. (*Id*). They will not pass to you because you retained control, they will pass to you because you did not place anyone in the position of general contractor, so the responsibility is yours. (*See Stute v. PBMC*, 114 Wn.2d 454, 788 P.2d 545 (Wash. 1990).

The history of the *Stute* decision is concisely explained in *Moen Co., v. Island Steel Erectors*, 912 P.2d 472, 128 Wash. 2d 745 (1996) as follows:

In *Kelley v. Howard S. Wright*, 90 Wn.2d at 332-33, we explicitly held a general contractor had a non-delegable duty under the then-existing workplace safety statute to ensure the

safety of all workers on a jobsite. In 1990, we again held a general contractor owed a duty to all employees at a worksite to comply with, or ensure compliance with, safety regulations under WISHA. RCW 49.17. *Stute v. PBMC, Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 454, 788 P.2d, 545 (1990). This duty is based upon the general contractor's "innate supervisory authority" that constitutes "per se control over the workplace," *Stute*, 114 Wn.2d at 464, and upon the wording of RCW 49.17.060, WAC 296-155-040, and *Stute*, 114 Wn.2d at 457-60.

Here, Garcia-Titla sued SFC Homes under a *Stute* theory of negligence and breach of the non-delegable duty to maintain a safe work place. A breach of the *Stute* duty is a breach of omission: If the general contractor did not supervise its site, it breached its duty. (WAC 296-155-100). If the general contractor left its framers to frame alone, without supervising the safety aspect of their job, it breached its duty. (WAC 296-155-100; 110). A general contractor must require safety meetings and the general contractor must keep the documentation of those meetings. (WAC 296-155-110). If he states in his sworn Declaration that he maintained no control over his jobsite - as SFC Homes has done here - he breached his duty. (WAC 296-155-100). If he claims that he hired independent contractors, and left them to fend for themselves, he breached his duty. (WAC 295-155).

Mr. Iwasaki's Declaration proved the breach of duty, or at the very least created a genuine issue of material fact, because he

swore in his Declaration that the framers were treated as independent contractors and left to supervise themselves. He breached the duty of care required of general contractors and owner/developers. SFC Homes misinterpreted and misapplied the principles of *Stute v. PBMC* in its Motion for Summary Judgement.

In this case, it has been overwhelmingly proven by county records that SFC Homes is a general contractor. Whether it was working at this site as the general contractor, or whether it was an owner/developer is not material. If it did not leave a general contractor at the site daily, to supervise safety, then as a default it becomes the owner in control of the site, whether it chose to exercise that control or not. (See *Stute, Moen, Kelley, etc., supra*). That is why SFC Homes' argument should have failed when it argued that Garcia-Titla must prove that SFC Homes was more than the owner/developer, and was more than a general contractor. Garcia-Titla did not have to prove that SFC Homes was choosing to act as the general contractor at that site at that time. Or, that SFC Homes did not retain control by choice, and as such, did not have the duty of control by law. There is no choice in the matter for SFC Homes, because it chose to purchase land,

hire subcontractors, and build homes upon it. That thrusts the non-delegable *Stute* duties upon SFC Homes.

All Garcia-Titla had to prove was that (1) he was working at the job site (CP 80); (2) no one from SFC Homes ever came around to supervise the safety aspect of the job (CP 79, 83, 84); and (3) he suffered injury after a faulty piece of lumber broke under his feet (CP 62). He testified to these facts already, in his Deposition, part of which was originally submitted in SFC Homes' summary judgement moving papers. He stated that he never spoke to anyone from SFC Homes at any time (CP 83, 84) proving that SFC Homes did not have a safety orientation with him and did not come around daily to inspect the jobsite. He also testified that he attended no safety meetings by anyone while he worked at that jobsite. CP 79.

This testimony regarding lack of safety oversight proves the breach of the general/owner's non-delegable duty. Causation is left to the trier of fact; but duty exists. This breach specifically violates but is not limited to, violations of RCW 49.17.060; WAC 296-155-040; WAC 296-155-100; WAC 296-155-110; and *Stute v. PBMC*, 114 Wn.2d 454 (1990).



Most importantly to this case, this Court in *Doss v. Rayonier Inc.* 803 P.2d 4, 60 Wash. App. 125 (1991) stated that whether a defendant is an owner/developer or a general contractor matters not. This Court, citing the Division 1 case of *Weinert v. Bronco National Co.*, Wn.App 692, 795 P.2d 1167 (1990) stated:

We do not overlook the fact that defendant is an owner/developer rather than a general contractor hired by an owner. We see no significance to this factor insofar as applying *Stute* to the facts of this case. The owner/developer's position is so comparable to that of general contractor in *Stute* that the reasons for the holding in *Stute* apply here. The purpose of the statutes and regulations relied upon in *Stute* is to protect workers. The basis for imposing the duty to enforce those laws on a general contractor exists with respect to an owner/developer who, like the general contractor, has the same innate overall supervisory authority and is in the best position to enforce compliance with safety regulations. (*Doss, supra*).

In *Weinert v. Bronco National Co.*, Wn.App 692, 795 P.2d 1167 (1990), the Court ruled that an owner/developer was liable for injuries sustained by an employee of the construction company hired by its siding subcontractor. The employee fell from scaffolding erected by its own employer. No evidence showed that the owner/developer had participated in the erection of the

scaffolding, yet the owner/developer was still liable. The Court in

*Weinert* stated:

The Deposition testimony before the Court asserts that Weinert was working on defective planks used in the scaffolding and that the scaffolding was unstable. It also provides a basis for a trier of fact to find that defective scaffolding was a proximate cause of Weinert's fall and resulting injuries.... In reaching its conclusion, the *Stute* Court rejected the contention that before such a duty could be imposed, there must be proof the general contractor controlled the work of the subcontractor.... We do not overlook the fact that Bronco is an owner/developer rather than a general contractor hired by an owner. We see no significance to this factor insofar as applying *Stute* to the facts of this case. (See *Weinert*, supra).

This case is identical to *Weinert*. Garcia-Titla's Deposition testimony has asserted that he was working on a defective plank. That plank was unstable, proven by the fact that the plank broke under his feet. This testimony provides the basis for a trier of fact to find that a defective piece of wood was a proximate cause of Garcia-Titla's fall and resulting injuries. Like in *Weinert* following *Stute*, in reaching its conclusion, this Court should reject the contention that before such a duty can be imposed, there must be proof that the general contractor controlled the work of the subcontractor. Just like in *Weinert* following *Stute*, this Court should see no significance in the fact that SFC Homes may be an owner/developer or a general contractor, or both at this site. All

the cases since *Stute*, place the duty to provide a safe place to work on entities like SFC Homes. As such, SFC Homes was the correct entity to sue in this case and should not have been summarily dismissed.

SFC Homes argued that *Stute* was not the case on point, and instead *Kamla v. Space Needle* 147 Wn.2d 114 (2002) governed this case. *Kamla* is not on point. *Kamla* involved an owner (the Space Needle) who was not a general contractor, and an independent contractor that was not a subcontractor. Independent contractors differ from subcontractors. The title itself explains the difference: Independent contractors are independent, like the plumber who comes to your home to fix your sink. Subcontractors work under a higher contractor – the general or prime contractor. They work on construction sites, which are hazardous employment sites, where safety is of utmost importance because injuries are very likely. Like a father to his children, the general or prime contractor is responsible for the safety of his subcontractors, per the mandates of *Stute*. Contrary to Defendant's pleadings, *Kamla v. Space Needle*, 147 Wn.2d 114 (2002) does not apply to this case. In *Kamla*, the Space Needle was not a general contractor, and it did not hire

subcontractors to build a residential home. The Space Needle hired a fireworks company to put on a fireworks show. The Court found that nonetheless, if the Space Needle had been “in the business” of fireworks, it could have been considered an owner who retained control of the fireworks display at issue in that case. Since the Space Needle was not an owner who was “in the business” of fireworks, it did not meet the requirements of being an owner in control. The Space Needle did not need to place another entity between itself and the fireworks independent contractor, the independent contractor was not a subcontractor, and the Space Needle was not building a residential or commercial home. The Space Needle was simply an owner, who hired an independent contractor.

In this case the trial court found that, like the Space Needle in *Kamla*, SFC Homes declared itself to be an owner who chose not to retain control. Therefore, it did not inherit the *Stute* duties. This is not a legally permissible interpretation of Washington law, because *Stute* and its progeny mandate that the general contractor has a *per se* duty of safety for all workers at its job site. (*Stute v. PBMC*, 114 Wn.2d 454, 788 P.2d 545 (1990)). If the owner fails to hire a general contractor, then he inherits the *per se* duty. (*Id*).

**C. Genuine issues of material fact remain to be decided as to whether SFC Homes is the general contractor and/or owner/developer (or both) for this job site.**

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