FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II

2015 AUG 21 PM 5:00

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY  DEPUTY

No. 47462-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

ANGEL GARCIA-TITLA, individually, and LETICIA SARMIENTO  
FLORES, individually and the marital community composed thereof

Appellants,

v.

SFC HOMES, LLC, a Washington Corporation

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

PAMELA M. ANDREWS, WSBA #14248  
KRISTEN DORRITY, WSBA #23674  
ANDREWS • SKINNER, P.S.  
645 Elliott Avenue West, Suite 350  
Seattle, WA 98119  
206-223-9248/ Fax: 206-623-9050

Attorneys for Respondent

##

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

Here, SFC Homes reasonably relied on FRDS to ensure WISHA compliance, where SFC Homes had no knowledge of the framing work or control over the work for which FRDS was hired. Indeed, Garcia-Titla makes no allegation that SFC Homes was in charge of how the work was performed. Washington’s long-standing law is clear: because SFC Homes had no knowledge of framing work, no right to control the work FRDS was entrusted to perform, and did not exercise any such control, the statutory duty applied to general contractors does not apply under the undisputed facts of this case.

Finally, Garcia-Titla repeatedly makes the erroneous argument that as an owner/developer, SFC Homes was per se liable for compliance with WISHA regulations if it did not hire a general contractor. See Br. of Appellant at 9. Garcia-Titla cites *Stute, Moen v. Island Steel Erectors*, 128

Wn.2d 745, 912 P.2d 472 (1996), and *Kelley v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 323, 582 P.2d 500 (1978). Nothing in these cases says this. Again, Garcia-Titla misinterprets well-established Washington law. *Stute*, *Moen*, and *Kelley* all involved the duties of general contractors, not jobsite owners, to the employees of subcontractors. This court should reject Garcia-Titla's arguments in this regard.

**2. SFC Homes Had No *Stute* Duty because Garcia-Titla Did not Establish SFC Homes Was the General Contractor**

Garcia-Titla also attempts to argue, contrary to the undisputed evidence on summary judgment, that SFC Homes was the general contractor for the project in question, and therefore it was per se liable for Garcia-Titla's injuries under *Stute*. Br. of Appellant at 17-22. In support of this contention, Garcia-Titla primarily relies upon documents obtained as public records from the City of Gig Harbor that he filed in support of his motion for reconsideration.<sup>6</sup> Those records were not before the trial court on summary judgment and they are therefore not properly before this court when ruling on that motion.<sup>7</sup>

When considering only the evidence before this court on summary judgment, that evidence is clearly insufficient to establish that SFC Homes

---

<sup>6</sup> Those citations include CP at 198-203, 427, and 432.

<sup>7</sup> The documents were also not properly before the court on reconsideration. see Section E. *infra*.

was the general contractor. The Assessor-Treasurer's document upon which Garcia-Titla relies simply states that SFC Homes, LLC, was the grantor of property on August 23, 2011, thereby indicating that SFC Homes was the owner of the property in question. CP at 125. That document says nothing about general contractors or the general contractor on the project site. Garcia-Titla also cites licensing information for SFC Homes obtained from L&I's website, which states that SFC Homes has a construction contractor's license. CP at 130, 132-33. However, those documents make no representations regarding the project site in question. In addition, Garcia-Titla cites information obtained from the Washington Secretary of State's website, providing that SFC Homes is an active corporation managed by Atsushi Iwasaki. CP at 135-36. Those documents say nothing about either SFC Homes's contractor status or the jobsite in question. Finally, Garcia-Titla cites a document obtained from the Washington Department of Revenue's website stating that SFC Homes was engaged in "new single-family housing construction" and a printout from Sumitomo Forestry Group's website stating that SFC Homes engaged in the business of "[c]onstruction and subdivision sales of detached houses." CP at 138, 144. Documentation that SFC Homes was in the business of construction does not create an issue of material fact as to whether it was the general contractor for the project in question on the



jobsite in question. Because Garcia-Titla failed to bring forth any competent evidence on summary judgment establishing a genuine issue of material fact on whether SFC Homes was a general contractor, the trial court properly granted SFC Homes's motion for summary judgment on Garcia-Titla's *Stute* claims.

### **3. *Stute* Does Not Apply in the Absence of WISHA Violations or Specific Allegations Thereof**

The duty to ensure compliance with WISHA regulations on a jobsite can only be imposed where a plaintiff "asserts that the employer did not follow *particular* WISHA regulations." *Stute*, 114 Wn.2d at 457 (emphasis added). Here, Garcia-Titla wholly failed to present evidence of the violation of specific WISHA regulations. In his response to SFC Homes's summary judgment motion, Garcia-Titla alleged simply that "Defendants violated the WAC and are responsible for Plaintiff's injuries." CP at 118. Further, L&I investigated the incident, and no WISHA violations were found. CP at 101-02.

Moreover, at summary judgment, SFC Homes introduced testimony from its safety expert, Kurt Stranne, who stated that WISHA does not require fall protection for framers at heights of under ten feet.<sup>8</sup>

---

<sup>8</sup> WAC 296-155-24510 (the provision applicable in 2011) provides: "When employees are exposed to a hazard of falling from a location 10 feet or more in height, the employer shall ensure that fall restraint, fall arrest systems or positioning device systems are provided, installed, and implemented." CP 489.

CP at 489-90. SFC Homes brought forth testimony establishing the absence of an issue of fact on WISHA violations, and it was Garcia-Titla's burden to respond with specific facts showing the existence of an issue of fact on whether WISHA violations occurred. See *Right-Price Recreation*, 146 Wn.2d at 382. Garcia-Titla failed to do so.

The trial court recognized this failure at oral argument, stating:

Well, but even a general contractor is not a strict liability standard. You still have to show a [WISHA] violation. So where do you have that? I mean, all that does—if they are a general, it just means that they can't shift the responsibility for general safety compliance on-site, but you've got to show that there was a violation and that that was a cause of his injury, and I don't have that either.

CP at 293. In response, Garcia-Titla acknowledged the fact that he had not alleged any WISHA violations, stating, “the reason that you don't have that is because the violations that we are going to be presenting to the jury, if allowed to do so, are the same ones that I usually bring in a summary judgment—partial summary judgment motion on the issue of WAC violations.” CP at 293-94. Garcia-Titla's acknowledgement of the absence of any evidence of WISHA violations in his response to SFC Homes' summary judgment motion is fatal to Garcia-Titla's case.<sup>9</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup> Regardless of any WISHA provisions cited on reconsideration or on appeal, this court is limited to reviewing the materials presented to the trial court on summary judgment. See *Lakey*, 176 Wn.2d at 922. Accordingly, any *ex post facto* allegations of WISHA violations, apart from those made on a proper ground on reconsideration (which did not

#### 4. Garcia-Titla Has Failed To Establish Causation

Finally, even if Garcia-Titla could prove that (1) SFC Homes was the general contractor and (2) specific WISHA violations occurred, he must nevertheless prove the remaining elements of a negligence claim against SFC Homes: that the alleged WISHA violations caused Garcia-Titla's damages.

Garcia-Titla did not present evidence in response to SFC Homes's summary judgment motion that any WISHA violation was the proximate cause of Garcia-Titla's injuries. Rather, Garcia-Titla states that "[a]ll [he] had to prove was that (1) he was working at the job site[,] (2) no one from SFC Homes ever came around to supervise the safety aspect of the job[,] and (3) he suffered injury after a faulty piece of lumber broke under his feet." Br. of Appellant at 12. He further states that "[c]ausation is left to the trier of fact; but duty exists." *Id.*

In making these arguments, Garcia-Titla effectively argues for strict liability for WISHA violations on a jobsite. This is not the law. Although *Stute* established that a general contractor has a duty to its subcontractors' employees as a matter of law, the Court did *not* create a strict liability claim against general contractors premised only upon a WISHA violation. See *Doss*, 60 Wn. App. at 129-30 (recognizing that a WISHA violation must be disregarded for the purposes of evaluating the trial court's decision on summary judgment).

violation under *Stute* is evidence of breach but not negligence per se). Rather, even if a plaintiff can show a WISHA violation, the plaintiff must also establish that (1) the violation resulted from the general contractor's failure to exercise reasonable care<sup>10</sup> and (2) the violation was the proximate cause of the accident.<sup>11</sup>

Thus, even if Garcia-Titla had alleged the existence of specific WISHA violations (which he did not), he was still required to bring forth evidence establishing that any claimed violation caused his injuries, an element of negligence upon which he bore the burden of proof at trial. See *Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey PC*, 180 Wn. App. 689, 698, 324 P.3d 743 (2014) (To avoid summary judgment dismissal in a negligence case, "the plaintiff must show a genuine issue of material fact on each element of negligence – duty, breach, causation and damage."). Garcia-Titla's failure to bring forth any evidence establishing causation is fatal to his claim that SFC Homes negligently caused his injuries.

#### **D. No Common Law Duty as Landowner**

---

<sup>10</sup> See *Degroot v. Berkley Constr., Inc.*, 83 Wn. App. 125, 131, 920 P.2d 619 (1996) (approving jury instruction stating that "general contractors must exercise ordinary care to provide for compliance with safety regulations on the job site").

<sup>11</sup> *Little v. Countrywood Homes, Inc.*, 132 Wn. App. 777, 783-84, 133 P.3d 944 (2006) ("*Stute* did not hold that a general contractor is liable for injuries to the employee of a subcontractor regardless whether the general contractor's failure to comply with safety regulations caused the accident.>").

At summary judgment, SFC Homes argued that it owed no duty to Garcia-Titla as a business invitee. CP at 24-27. In response, Garcia-Titla conceded this point.<sup>12</sup> CP at 118. Garcia-Titla's concession is dispositive, and the court should decline to address the issue further.

Moreover, even if this court were to examine whether SFC Homes owed a duty to Garcia-Titla as an invitee on its land, the undisputed facts of this case demonstrate that SFC Homes owed Garcia-Titla no duty. The duty owed by a landowner to a person on their land depends upon the entrant's status as a trespasser, licensee, or invitee. *Kamla*, 147 Wn.2d at 125. Employees of independent contractors hired by landowners are considered invitees on the landowners' premises. *Id.* Washington follows Sections 343 and 343A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts to define a landowner's duty to invitees. *Id.* Section 343 provides:

A possessor of land is subject to liability for physical harm caused to his invitees by a condition on the land if, but only if, he

(a) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees, and

(b) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it, and

---

<sup>12</sup> Garcia-Titla stated in his response brief: "[T]his case has nothing to do with owners of land and invitees. This analysis is not applicable to the present case. There is no 'alleged condition' in a *Stute* case. Here, the joist that broke under this unwitting worker's feet was not an 'alleged condition' as that is contemplated in premises liability cases." CP at 118.

(c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect them against the danger.

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 343, at 215-16. Section 343A provides: “A possessor of land is not liable to his invitees for physical harm caused to them by any activity or condition on the land whose danger is known or obvious to them, unless the possessor should anticipate the harm despite such knowledge or obviousness.” RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 343A at 218. Further, a landowner owes no duty to an employee of an independent contractor “to protect him from the negligence of his own master.” *Hymas v. UAP Distribution, Inc.*, 167 Wn. App. 136, 161-62, 272 P.3d 889 (2012).

Here, even assuming that the risk of falling from the first story of the home in this case was a known, obvious condition under the Restatement, SFC Homes owed no duty to protect Garcia-Titla against that danger because SFC Homes had no reason to believe that Garcia-Titla would not protect himself against the danger. See *Kamla*, 147 Wn.2d at 126.

In *Kamla*, the Court held that the Space Needle should not have anticipated the risk that Kamla would drag his safety line across the open elevator shaft. 147 Wn.2d at 127. The Court reasoned:

Pyro was a business entity that represented itself as possessing expertise in the creation and execution of fireworks displays. Collectively, the project team for Pyro had over 100 years of experience in designing, installing, and executing fireworks displays. Pyro created similar displays at the Space Needle the two previous years and suggested to Space Needle that it incorporate the 200-foot level into the 1997 New Year's Eve display. Kamla worked for Pyro in the core of the Space Needle the two previous years. Pyro employees who worked in the core were exposed to and aware of the danger posed by the moving elevators. Finally, Pyro employees had independently devised a safety system designed to avoid the elevator openings.

Given Pyro's expertise, Kamla's two years of personal experience working on the 200-foot level next to the obvious danger posed by the elevators, and Kamla's own acute awareness of the danger posed by the moving elevators, we believe no reasonable trier of fact could find Space Needle should have anticipated that Kamla would drag his safety line across the open elevator shaft.

*Id.* at 126-27.

Here, as in *Kamla*, FRDS was a business entity that held itself out as an expert in framing, and it were hired to perform work on the subject project based upon that expertise. CP at 106. Garcia-Titla himself was also an experienced framer, and had worked on framing projects for FRDS on two previous occasions. CP at 57, 84, 92-94. Garcia-Titla admitted in his deposition that he was aware of the dangers associated with performing framing work and that he was knowledgeable regarding the available safety precautions used in the framing industry to prevent falls.

CP at 74-78. Given FRDS's expertise, Garcia-Titla's experience with framing work, and Garcia-Titla's personal knowledge of the dangers associated with framing and the safety precautions available, no reasonable trier of fact could find that SFC Homes should have anticipated that Garcia-Titla would have inadequately protected himself against the fall that occurred in the present case. See *Kamla*, 147 Wn.2d at 126-27. Accordingly, as a matter of law, SFC Homes owed no duty to Garcia-Titla as a landowner to an invitee.

**E. The Trial Court Properly Denied Garcia-Titla's Motion for Reconsideration**

Garcia-Titla moved for reconsideration, claiming that he misunderstood the issues at summary judgment. He claimed that he was under the mistaken belief that the issue before the court was not whether SFC Homes was the general contractor for the project at issue, but, rather, whether SFC Homes was simply "a" general contractor. CP at 178-79. He therefore claimed that he was entitled to submit additional evidence showing that SFC Homes was "the" general contractor in the present case, under CR 59(a)(4). CP at 178-79. The trial court rejected this argument and should be affirmed.

Garcia-Titla's apparent purpose in moving for reconsideration was to introduce records not previously submitted, which were readily

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